#### RECEIVED

11-12-2013

#### State of Wisconsin 11 Court of Appeals District 1 OF Appeal No. 2013AP000749 - CR

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

۷.

Brian A. Patterson,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### On appeal from a judgment of the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Dennis Cimpl, presiding

#### **Defendant-Appellant's Brief and Appendix**

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 735 W. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1200 Milwaukee, WI 53233

414.671.9484

Attorneys for the Appellant

###

#### Statement of the Issues

I. Whether the evidence was sufficient as a matter of law to convict Patterson of first degree reckless homicide where Patterson invoked the privilege of self-defense to the charge of first degree intentional homicide, and it was undisputed that Patterson deliberately fired his weapon five times at a vital part of the body of the victim?

#### Answered by the trial court: Yes.

II. Whether the circuit court erred in submitting to the jury, over Patterson's objection, the lesser included offense of first degree reckless homicide?

#### Answered by the trial court: No.

III. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Patterson's postconviction motion for a new trial on the grounds that the instruction the court gave to the jury concerning first degree

reckless homicide was erroneous in that it shifted the burden of proof to Patterson to prove self-defense, and where the instruction failed to instruct the jury that if Patterson actually believed that deadly force was necessary, then he could not be found guilty of first degree reckless homicide.

#### Answered by the trial court: No.

IV. Whether the circuit court abused its sentencing discretion by failing to set forth on the record a nexus between the sentence imposed and the sentencing factors considered by the court.

Answered by the trial court: No.

#### Summary of the Arguments

I. The evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to convict Patterson of first degree reckless homicide. Where the defendant's conduct is *practically certain* to cause death, it is presumed that he acted with intent to kill. On the other hand, where the defendant's conduct merely created a risk of death or great bodily harm, his conduct is criminally reckless. Here, Patterson's conduct was practically certain to cause the death of McGowan. Patterson fired a pistol at least four times at a vital part of McGowan's body. Thus, the evidence is undisputed that Patterson intended to kill McGowan. This precludes a finding that Patterson's conduct was criminally reckless. Patterson's defense to the charge of first degree intentional homicide-- of which the jury did not convict him-- was the privilege of self-defense. Since the jury did not convict Patterson of first degree intentional homicide, the jury must have believe that Patterson actually believed that deadly force was necessary. As such, the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to convict Patterson of first degree reckless homicide.

II. The circuit court erred in submitting the lesser included offense of first degree reckless homicide to the jury. At the close of all evidence the state sought to have to court submit to the jury the lesser included offense of first degree reckless homicide. Patterson objected. The court overruled the objection and submitted first degree reckless homicide. It was error to do so. Firstly, there is no reasonable view of the evidence that would permit the jury to find Patterson not guilty of first degree intentional homicide, but guilty of first degree reckless homicide. This is because the evidence permits no dispute over the fact that Patterson acted with the intent to kill McGowan. Thus, in order to acquit Patterson of first degree intentional homicide, the jury would have to find that Patterson had an actual belief that deadly force was necessary. This precludes a finding that Patterson was aware that his conduct created an unreasonable risk of death or great bodily harm, which is a necessary element of first degree reckless homicide. More importantly, the state's request to submit the lesser included offense came only after all evidence had been presented, and after Patterson had committed to a defense. As such, it violated Patterson's due process right to be put on notice of the charges, and given an opportunity to defend against those charges, only to then have the fundamental nature of the charge changed. If Patterson had faced the charge of first degree reckless homicide from the outset, his theory of defense would have been very different.

III. The circuit court erred in denying Patterson's motion for a new trial on the grounds that the instruction that the court gave the jury concerning first degree reckless homicide was plain error. Patterson filed a postconviction motion for a new trial on the grounds that the circuit court committed plain error in the manner in which it instructed the jury concerning first degree intentional homicide. The instruction was defective in two respects: (1) the instruction failed to clearly inform the jury that, with regard to first degree reckless homicide, it was the state's burden to disprove beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant's claim that he was acting in self-defense; and, (2) the jury instruction failed to inform the jury that if it found that Patterson held an actual belief that deadly force was necessary, the jury could not convict him of first degree reckless homicide.

IV. The circuit court erred in permitting Patterson to testify to some-- but not all-- of the prior acts of violence by McGowan of which Patterson was aware at the time. Patterson filed a pretrial motion for a preliminary ruling on the admissibility of evidence concerning prior violent acts by the victim, McGowan, of which Patterson was aware at the time of the shooting. The court conducted a hearing into the motion. The court ruled that Patterson could testify to some of the incidents, but excluded the majority of them on the grounds that they were either remote in time or not firmly established. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion because it applied the wrong legal standard. The defendant has the right to testify concerning his knowledge of the victim's propensity for violence. There is no requirement that the incidents be near in time nor firmly established. The only basis for excluded such testimony is if the probative value is exceeded by considerations of unfair prejudice. Here, the circuit court may no such finding.

V. The circuit court erroneously exercised its sentencing discretion because, in sentencing Patterson, the judge merely restated the aggravating facts in the case and then imposed a thirty-five year sentence. In order to ensure proper appellate review of the circuit court's exercise of sentencing discretion, the judge is required to

place on the record the sentencing factors that were considered; and then explain why those factors demand the sentence that was imposed. Here, the circuit court judge set forth no nexus between the factors considered and the sentence imposed. Additonally, the judge relied upon the misapprehension that Patterson had shot McGown "twice in the back" as McGowan was retreating. There was not such evidence presented at trial.

#### Statement of the Case

#### I. Procedural History

On February 6, 2010, the defendant-appellant, Brian A. Patterson (hereinafter "Patterson"), was charged with first degree intentional homicide arising out of the shooting death of Joseph McGowan in Milwaukee on February 2, 2010. (R:2) Patterson waived his preliminary hearing, he was bound over for trial, and he entered a not guilty plea.

Patterson filed a pretrial motion seeking a preliminary ruling on the admissibility of other violent acts by McGowan<sup>1</sup>. The circuit court conducted a hearing into the motion on June 2, 2010. Patterson testified at the hearing concerning the various violent acts by McGowan of which Patterson was aware. These acts included: an incident in which McGowan

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A so-called "McMorris" motion

argued with Shannon Dancer about a sexual assault that McGowan had committed in the Eighties (R:95-41); an incident in Madison in which McGowan was charged with reckless use of a weapon (R:95-42); Patterson said that McGowan told him about an incident where McGowan's brother, Tracy, shot a man, and then Joseph McGowan picked up the victim's gun and fired the remaining shots into the victim (R:95-53); Patterson testified that he personally observed an incident where McGowan shot "JJ" over an ounce of cocaine (R:95-61); and, finally, there was a Christmas Eve incident in which Patterson saw McGowan shoot a person. (R:95-62).

The circuit court permitted Patterson to introduce evidence of the January 29, 2010 incident in which McGowan threatened Patterson that "he better get his money or he's gonna [sic] kick Mr. Patterson's ass", punched him, and pulled a gun on him. (R:96-6). The court also permitted Patterson to introduce evidence of a December 27, 2009 incident (R:96-16); but ruled that the remaining incidents were not admissible.<sup>2</sup>

Patterson also filed a pretrial motion seeking suppression of the statement he made while in police custody. (R:19). The court conducted a hearing, and ruled that Patterson's statement was admissible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Patterson filed a motion to reconsider and,on reconsideration, the court admitted evidence of the September, 2009 incident in which McGowan shot "JJ"

The matter proceeded to jury trial beginning on December 14, 2010.

During the defense case, Patterson called Tommy Wynne to testify<sup>3</sup>. Wynne, however, invoked his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. (R:110-118)<sup>4</sup> Thereafter, Patterson sought to introduce Wynne's statement through either the police interview conducted by Det. Gust Petropolous (Exhibit 99; Appendix B) or through the testimony/transcript of an interview of Wynne conducted by defense investigator Lori Gonion. (Exhibit 100; Appendix B). (R:112-9 et seq.)<sup>5</sup> The trial court sustained the state's hearsay objection in large part, but admitted the portion of Wynne's statement in which he said that immediately following the shooting, Patterson gave him the pistol and directed him to bury it in the snow at his sister's house<sup>6</sup>. *Id.* 

At the close of all evidence, the state moved the court to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Wynne, who was an eyewitness to the shooting, was on the state's witness list; however, the state did not call Wynne. Apparently, a detective, unbeknownst to Patterson, told Wynne that he was free to leave. There was some difficulty in getting Wynne to return for the defense case, but he did return. The state refused to offer Wynne immunity, and the state did not offer him any consideration for his testimony. Thus, when Wynne was called by the defense, he invoked his right to remain silent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The court permitted Wynne to invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege before the jury. This should not have been permitted; however, Patterson did not move for a mistrial because, according to his lawyer, this was at the defendant's request. (R:111-6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Wynn was present at the scene of the shooting, and he was an eyewitness. According to Wynn's statement, immediately before the shooting McGowan was behaving in an intimidating and threatening manner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The circuit court ruled that this statement was admissible as a statement against penal interest pursuant to Sec. 908.045(4), Stats.

submit to the jury the lesser-included offense of first degree reckless homicide. (R:112-96 to 99) Patterson objected. The court overruled Patterson's objection, and submitted to the jury the lesser included offense of first degree reckless homicide. *Id.* 

The jury returned a verdict finding Patterson guilty of first degree reckless homicide. (R:112-7)

The circuit court sentenced Patterson to thirty-five years in prison, bifurcated as twenty-five years initial confinement and ten years of extended supervision. (R:117-54) Significantly, at the sentencing hearing the judge said, "And you shot him twice in the back as he was going away from you." (R:117-49)

Patterson timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. He filed a postconviction motion for a new trial on the grounds that plain error was committed in the manner in which the circuit court instructed the jury; or, in the alternative, that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the defective instructions. (R:82)<sup>7</sup> The circuit court did not conduct a hearing; instead, the court denied the motion by memorandum decision. (R:87)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Specifically, the motion alleged that in instructing the jury as to first degree reckless homicide (Wis. JI Criminal 1016), the instruction improperly shifted the burden of proof to the defendant to establish that he was acting reasonably in self-defense; and, concerning first degree reckless homicide, the instruction failed to inform the jury that Patterson cannot be convicted of first degree reckless if it is established that he had an actual belief that deadly force was necessary to terminate an unlawful interference with his person, even if that actual belief was unreasonable.

#### II. Factual Background

This incident between cousins-- Patterson and McGowan-- began as a disagreement over the manner in which Patterson completed a tax return for Tiffany Stephens, who was McGowan's girlfriend. (R:106-74; 76; 79) On February 2, 2010, in the company of Devin Holmes and Joseph McGowan, Stephens went to Patterson's home at about two o'clock in the afternoon to discuss the matter with Patterson. (R:106-76) When Stephens knocked on Patterson's door, though, Lonnie Tolbert answered and told her that Patterson was not home. (R:106-83)

Stephens turned to leave but, just at that point, Patterson pulled up in his car (R:106-84) He stopped it in the middle of the street. Tommy Wynne was in the car with him. (R:106-84) Stephens then had a brief discussion with Patterson about her tax return. At that point, McGowan got out of his vehicle.

Neighbors reported hearing the two men arguing (R:106-37) One neighbor saw the "guy who got shot" [McGowan] take off his coat like he wanted to fight. (R:106-42, 43) McGowan was demanding money from Patterson (R:110-27) A neighbor described McGowan's behavior as terrible and "outraged." (R:106-49) McGowan told Tolbert, "Lonnie . . . this has nothing to do with you, but I advise you not to be in the house." (R:110-31)

Apparently, though, the argument subsided, and Patterson went up onto his porch. Wynne got into Patterson's vehicle, and he moved it so that McGowan could leave. As the cars were passing, McGowan had words with Wynne. This prompted Wynne to get out of the car and approach McGowan (R:106-103) According to Stephens, Wynne, who was yelling, was demanding to know why McGowan would threaten him even though he had nothing to do with the dispute. (R:106-105)

At that point, Patterson came back down from his porch, stood in the street, and, according and Stephens, demanded to fight McGowan (R:106-112) Stephens testified that both men put up their hands to fight, but then Patterson pulled out a gun and he shot McGowan. (R:106-115, 116) Devin Holmes heard McGowan say (to Patterson), "You got it. Use it." (R:109-38) Patterson continued to walk forward as he fired four shots (R:109-51). McGowan fell backwards. *Id* 

According to the medical examiner, all of McGowan's gunshot wounds were on the front part of his body, including his hands, except for one gunshot wound to his left buttocks. (R:107-118)

Patterson also testified. He said on the day of the shooting he had found out that the district attorney had decided not to issue charges against McGowan for pulling a gun on Patterson the previous Friday. (R:110-88) Patterson described the previous incident. On that day, McGowan was

demanding money from Patterson. He "sucker punched" Patterson, and then he pulled a gun on him. (R:110-103 to 106) Carl McAfee corroborated that McGowan was threatening Patterson, and that McGowan punched him. (R:112-51)

Regarding the present incident, Patterson said that, after he pulled up in his vehicle, he got out and McGowan was "excited", and he was again demanding money from Patterson. (R:110-93) McGowan threatened that unless Patterson paid him the money within twenty-four hours, McGowan would shoot Patterson. (R:111-13)

Patterson went back up onto the porch. However, when he saw the argument between Wynne and McGowan, he went At that point, according to Patterson, McGowan back down. said that he [Patterson] did not have twenty-four hours any more, and he reached under the seat of his car. (R:111-34) Patterson testified that he felt threatened because he believed that McGowan had retrieved a gun from the car. (R:111-35) Therefore, Patterson pulled out his pistol, and he warned McGowan that if he came any closer, he was going to shoot. (R:111-38) McGowan had his hand in his pocket, and he kept coming toward Patterson, so Patterson fired four or five times. (R:111-39, 40) Patterson told the jury that he thought McGowan's threat was credible because around Christmas, 2009<sup>8</sup>, Patterson had seen McGowan shoot a man. (R:111-47)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Which was only a little more than a month earlier

Additionally, Patterson testified that on another occasion, McGowan had called him and told him that he [McGowan] had shot Dujuan Johnson. (R:111-53, 54)

#### Argument

## I. The evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to convict Patterson of first degree reckless homicide.

The evidence presented at trial was to the effect that Patterson fired his pistol at a vital part of McGowan's body at least four times from a position where the two men were "face-to-face." The only available inference is that Patterson intended to kill McGowan. Intentional conduct is not criminally reckless conduct. Patterson defended the charge of first degree intentional homicide by invoking the privilege of self-defense. Apparently, because the jury did not convict Patterson of first degree intentional homicide, the jury must have believed that Patterson actually believed that deadly force was necessary. Similarly, the jury did not convict Patterson of second degree intentional homicide and, therefore, the jury must have believed that Patterson's use of deadly force was reasonable and necessary. Thus, the state failed to disprove Patterson's claim of perfect self-defense. Since Patterson's intent to kill McGowan was undisputed, the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to convict Patterson of first

degree reckless homicide.

#### A. Standard of Appellate Review

The standard of appellate review on challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence to support a verdict in a criminal case is well-known. In *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 501 (Wis. 1990), the Supreme Court held:

We hold that the standard for reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction is the same in either a direct or circumstantial evidence case. Under that standard, an appellate court may not reverse a conviction unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### B. Elements of first degree reckless homicide

To prove first-degree reckless homicide, the State must show that: (1) the defendant caused the death of the victim; (2) the defendant caused the death by *criminally reckless conduct*; and (3) the circumstances of the defendant's conduct showed utter disregard for human life. See § 940.02(1), STATS. "Criminally reckless conduct" means: the conduct created a risk of death or great bodily harm to another person; and the risk of death or great bodily harm was unreasonable and substantial; and the defendant was aware that her conduct created the unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm. Wis. JI-Criminal 1020. Where, as here, the defendant introduces "some evidence" that he was acting in self-defense, a fourth element to first degree reckless homicide is created. The court of appeals has specifically explained that, "Once a defendant successfully places an affirmative defense in issue, the State is required to disprove the defense beyond a reasonable doubt. [internal citation omitted] Thus, the lack of the defense becomes an element of the crime." *State v. Schmidt,* 2012 WI App 113, 344 Wis. 2d 336, 343, 824 N.W.2d 839, 843, review denied (Jan. 14, 2013), *review denied* 2013 WI 22, 346 Wis. 2d 284, 827 N.W.2d 374

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