RECEIVED

01-24-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2013AP749-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN A. PATTERSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER
DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION
RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF
MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE
DENNIS R. CIMPL AND ELLEN R. BROSTROM,
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGES, RESPECTIVELY

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN
Attorney General

SALLY L. WELLMAN
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1013419

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857

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

Patterson, however, does not assert that the claimed error in the jury instructions prevented the real controversy from being fully tried or resulted in a miscarriage of justice.

Patterson labels the error in this case plain error, but he utterly fails to discuss, much less apply, the standards of that doctrine. This court must decline to consider whether Patterson is entitled to relief under the plain error doctrine, because Patterson did not adequately brief that issue. This court cannot serve as both advocate and judge, and it would not be appropriate for it to attempt to do so. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 647, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

At any rate, Patterson is not entitled to relief under the plain error doctrine. To obtain relief under this doctrine, the defendant must establish that the unobjected to error is fundamental, obvious and substantial. *State v. Jorgensen*, 2008 WI 60, ¶ 23, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77. Patterson cannot meet this standard. The standard jury instructions have long been used without anyone noticing a problem with them. Under these circumstances, any error in the instructions was certainly not “obvious” as required by the plain error doctrine.

Moreover, the error was neither fundamental nor substantial. The standard jury instructions given in this case, considered as a whole rather than in isolation, did not shift the burden of proof to Patterson and were adequate to inform the jury that if Patterson actually believed the deadly force used was necessary, then he could not be found guilty of first-degree reckless homicide. The instructions included the following directives:

The defendant is guilty of first-degree reckless homicide if the defendant caused the death of Joseph McGowan by criminally reckless conduct and the circumstances of the conduct showed utter disregard for human life. You will be asked to consider the privilege of self-defense in deciding whether the elements of first-degree reckless homicide are present.

Because the law provides that it is the State’s burden to prove all of the facts necessary to constitute a crime beyond a reasonable doubt you

will not be asked to make a separate finding on whether the defendant acted in self-defense.

Instead you will be asked to determine whether the State has established necessary facts to justify a finding of guilty for first- or second-degree intentional homicide or for first-degree reckless homicide.

If the State does not satisfy you that those facts are established by the evidence, you will be instructed to find the defendant not guilty. The facts necessary to constitute each crime will now be defined for you in greater detail. . . .

. . . .

. . . First-degree reckless homicide, as defined in Section 940.02, paren. 1, of the Criminal Code of the State of Wisconsin, is committed by one who recklessly causes the death of another human being under circumstances that show utter disregard for human life. Before you may find the defendant guilty of first-degree reckless homicide, the State must prove by evidence which satisfies you beyond a reasonable doubt that the following three elements were present:

One, that the defendant caused the death of Joseph McGowan. "Cause" means the defendant's act was a substantial factor in proving -- in producing the death; two, that the defendant caused the death by criminally reckless conduct.

"Criminally reckless conduct" means the conduct created a risk of death or great bodily harm to another person and the risk of death or great bodily harm was unreasonable and substantial and the defendant was aware that his conduct created the unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm.

If the defendant was acting reasonably in the exercise of the privilege of self-defense, his conduct did not create an unreasonable risk to another. The circum -- And the third element is that the circumstances of the defendant's conduct showed utter disregard for human life. In determining

whether the conduct showed utter disregard for human life, you should consider these factors: What the defendant was doing, why the defendant was engaged in that conduct, how dangerous the conduct was, how obvious the danger was, whether the conduct showed any regard for -- for life and all other facts and circumstances relating to the conduct.

You should consider the evidence relating to self-defense in deciding whether the defendant's conduct showed utter disregard for human life.

If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant caused the death of Joseph McGowan by criminally reckless conduct and that the circumstances of the conduct showed utter disregard for human life, you should find the defendant guilty of first-degree reckless homicide. If you are not so satisfied, you must find the defendant not guilty. You are not in any event to find the defendant guilty of more than one of the forgoing offenses.

Self-defense is an issue in this case. The law of self-defense allows the defendant to threaten or intentionally use force against another only if the defendant believed there was an actual or imminent unlawful interference with his person and the defendant believed that the amount of force used -- that the defendant used or threatened to use was necessary to prevent or terminate the interference and the defendant's beliefs were reasonable.

The defendant may intentionally use force which is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily harm only if the defendant reasonably believed that the force used was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself.

A belief may be reasonable even though mistaken. In determining whether the defendant's beliefs were reasonable, the standard is what a person of ordinary intelligence and prudence would have believed in the defendant's position under the circumstances that existed at the time of the alleged offense.

The reasonableness of the defendant's beliefs must be determined from the standpoint of the defendant at the time of the defendant's acts and not from the viewpoint of the jury now. There is no duty to retreat, however, in determining whether the defendant reasonably believed the amount of force used was necessary to prevent or terminate the interference, you may consider whether the defendant had the opportunity to retreat with safety, whether such retreat was feasible and whether the defendant knew of the opportunity to retreat.

(112:117-18, 125-29). The instruction does not misstate the burden of proof or expressly place the burden of proof on the defendant. The flaw, if it exists, is that it does not take the extra step of specifying that the State has the burden to disprove self-defense. The issue is whether, considering the jury instructions as a whole, there is a reasonable likelihood the jury understood the instructions to allow conviction based upon insufficient proof. *State v. Patterson*, 2010 WI 130, ¶ 53, 329 Wis. 2d 599, 790 N.W.2d 909.

Under the plain error doctrine, if the defendant proves the error was fundamental, obvious and substantial, the burden shifts to the State to show the error was harmless by showing beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. Because the instructions here contained no express error or misstatement, but at most failed to contain additional language expressly spelling out that the State had to disprove lawful self-defense, any error was subtle.

Alternatively, Patterson cannot demonstrate that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel. A criminal defendant alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel must prove that his trial counsel's performance was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *State v. Koller*, 2001 WI App 253, ¶ 7, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838.

The question is whether, under the circumstances of the case as they existed at the time of trial, the challenged conduct or failure to act could have been justified by an attorney exercising reasonable professional judgment. *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 8; *State v. Kimbrough*, 2001 WI App 138, ¶¶ 31-34, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752. To prove deficient performance, the defendant must show that counsel's act or omission was "objectively unreasonable." *State v. Oswald*, 2000 WI App 2, ¶ 63, 232 Wis. 2d. 62, 606 N.W.2d 207.

To prove prejudice, the defendant must show that counsel's alleged errors actually had an adverse effect on the defense such that the proper functioning of the adversarial process was undermined and the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result. To make this showing, the defendant must prove there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 9.

Whether under those facts trial counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial is reviewed by the appellate court *de novo*. *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 10.

The court need not address both prongs if the defendant fails to prove either one of the prongs. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 128, 499 N.W.2d 845 (1990).

Patterson fails to explain how defense counsel can be faulted for failing to object to the long standing standard instruction. Because counsel cannot be faulted for failing to recognize any subtle flaw in the instructions, it cannot be said that his failure was objectively unreasonable and constituted deficient performance. Moreover, because any error in the instructions was so subtle, he cannot prove prejudice.

Wisely, Patterson does not seek to analogize to this court's recent decision in *State v. Austin*, 2013 WI App 96, ¶¶ 16-18, 349 Wis. 2d 744, 836 N.W.2d 833.

It should be noted that in *Austin*, this court did not find the error in the instruction was plain error, and it did not find defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object to the standard instruction given at trial. Rather, this court granted a new trial in the interest of justice under the unique circumstances of that case. In *Austin*, unlike this case, the jury was presented with claims of both self-defense and defense of others. In the instruction on defense of others relative to the first-degree charges, the jury was instructed that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant did not act lawfully in defense of others. Confusingly, that instruction was not given in regard to self-defense as it related to second-degree reckless endangering safety, the crime of which *Austin* was convicted. *Austin*, 349 Wis. 2d 744, ¶¶ 7-10.

In Patterson's case, no inconsistent, confusing instructions on self-defense were given.

Moreover, Patterson does not argue that he is entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice, and he does not argue that the error in the jury instruction on self-defense prevented the real controversy from being fully tried. By failing to make that argument, he implicitly concedes that a new trial in the interest of justice is not warranted in this case. His implicit concession is well-taken.

Patterson is not entitled to relief under any theory for his belated complaints about the jury instructions. Properly viewing the instructions as a whole, there is no reasonable likelihood the jury understood the instructions to require Patterson to prove that he had an actual belief that the force used was necessary in order to avoid conviction of first-degree reckless homicide. *Austin* is limited to its facts, in which particular contradictory instructions were given. The *Austin* flaw does not exist in this case. In Patterson's case, there was no plain error, trial counsel's failure to object to the instructions on the grounds raised after trial did not constitute ineffective

assistance, and a new trial in the interest of justice is not warranted.

For all of these reasons, Patterson is not entitled to a new trial based on his unpreserved challenge to the standard jury instructions given in his case.

IV. PATTERSON IS NOT ENTITLED
TO RELIEF ON HIS
UNPRESERVED CHALLENGES
TO HIS SENTENCE.

On appeal for the first time, Patterson asserts the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion by failing to set forth a nexus between the factors considered and the sentence imposed. Patterson has forfeited this issue by failing to raise it in a postconviction motion in the trial court, and this court should therefore decline to consider the issue. A postconviction motion challenging the trial court's sentence is a prerequisite to appellate review of the sentence. The law is very clear that the appellate court will not review a sentence on appeal if the defendant did not first file a motion challenging the sentence in the trial court. *State v. Walker*, 2006 WI 82, ¶ 30, 292 Wis. 2d 326, 716 N.W.2d 498; *State v. Chambers*, 173 Wis. 2d 237, 261, 496 N.W.2d 191 (Ct. App. 1992); *State v. Norwood*, 161 Wis. 2d 676, 680-81, 468 N.W.2d 741 (Ct. App. 1991); *State v. Meyer*, 150 Wis. 2d 603, 442 N.W.2d 483 (Ct. App. 1989). This prerequisite is based on the long-standing policy in Wisconsin “that it is better to give the circuit court, which is familiar with the facts and issues, an opportunity to correct any error it has made before requiring an appellate court to expend its resources in review.” *Walker*, 292 Wis. 2d 326, ¶ 30.

Patterson also complains for the first time on appeal that in discussing sentencing, the trial court misstated the facts indicating McGowan was shot twice in the back while he was running away, rather than the correct fact that one bullet entered his buttocks. Patterson admitted that wound could have been inflicted while

McGowan was retreating. Moreover, the medical examiner who performed the autopsy opined the wound could have been inflicted while McGowan was bending or falling or while he was lying on the ground (107:132). Thus, the trial court's point that there was evidence that Patterson shot and hit the victim after any potential danger was over and while the victim was helpless was not mistaken.

In any event, Patterson forfeited this claim because he failed to object to the trial court's reliance on allegedly inaccurate information at sentencing. Patterson also failed to raise this challenge to the sentence in a postconviction motion, which, as stated above, is a prerequisite to appellate review.

For all of these reasons, Patterson is not entitled to relief on his unpreserved challenges to the sentence imposed.

V. PATTERSON HAS ABANDONED ANY APPELLATE CHALLENGE TO THE TRIAL COURT'S EVIDENTIARY RULINGS.

In the Summary of Arguments section of his brief, Patterson asserted:

The circuit court erred in permitting Patterson to testify to some -- but not all -- of the prior acts of violence by McGowan of which Patterson was aware at the time. Patterson filed a pretrial motion for a preliminary ruling on the admissibility of evidence concerning prior violent acts by the victim, McGowan, of which Patterson was aware at the time of the shooting. The court conducted a hearing into the motion. The court ruled that Patterson could testify to some of the incidents, but excluded the majority of them on the grounds that they were either remote in time or not firmly established. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion because it applied the wrong legal standard. The defendant has the right to testify concerning his knowledge of the victim's propensity for violence.

There is no requirement that the incidents be near in time nor firmly established. The only basis for excluded [sic] such testimony is if the probative value is exceeded by considerations of unfair prejudice. Here, the circuit court may [sic] no such finding.

(Patterson's brief at 9).

Patterson's brief, however, does not contain an actual argument on this issue, nor is such an argument included in his table of contents. The brief summary of argument does not cite any case law or authority, it does not specifically identify the individual items of evidence the trial court ruled inadmissible, and it does not contain an argument explaining why the trial court erred in excluding each item.

To the extent Patterson is challenging the trial court's evidentiary rulings on appeal, he has abandoned that challenge by failing to present a developed argument on the issue. This court must decline to consider this issue, because this court cannot develop and present the argument for Patterson. This court cannot be both advocate and judge, and it would not be appropriate for it to attempt to do so. *Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d at 647.

For all of these reasons, to the extent Patterson is claiming the trial court's evidentiary rulings were error, this court must consider that claim abandoned on appeal.

CONCLUSION

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